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INTRODUCTION

This article reviews the significant environmental law cases
decided by the Fifth Circuit during the survey period and focuses
primarily on Riverside Market Development Corp. v. International
Building Products, Inc.' In Riverside, the Fifth Circuit appears to
have placed a limit on the trend of expanding the liability of
individual officers, directors, and controlling shareholders of closely
held corporations under the Comprehensive Environmental Response
Compensation and Liability Act of 1980 (CERCLA). 2 In Riverside,
the court adopted a standard requiring a showing of actual personal
participation in corporate conduct as an essential element of a claim
for individual liability under CERCLA.3 By adopting such a standard, the Fifth Circuit has implicitly declined to follow, and in fact
does not even cite, a line of federal cases which held that the mere
authority and capacity to prevent wrongful corporate conduct is
sufficient to impose CERCLA liability on an individual corporate
4
officer even in the absence of her actual participation in the conduct.
The article will also discuss briefly three other opinions: Dayton
Independent School District v. U.S. Mineral Products Co. ,' Chevron,
U.S.A., Inc. v. Yost,6 and Carr v. Alta Verde Industries, Inc. 7 In
Dayton, the Fifth Circuit joined previous courts which have addressed the issue and concluded that CERCLA does not provide a

1. 931 F.2d 327 (5th Cir. May 1991), cert. denied, sub nom, Riverside Market Ltd.
Partnership v. Prescott, 60 U.S.L.W. 3416 (U.S. Dec. 9, 1991) (No. 91-458).
2. 42 U.S.C. §§ 9601-9675 (1988).
3. 931 F.2d at 330. See infra text accompanying notes 33-99.
4. See infra notes 32-61 and accompanying text.
5. 906 F.2d 1059 (5th Cir. July 1990).
6. 919 F.2d 27 (5th Cir. Dec. 1990).
7. 931 F.2d 1055 (5th Cir. May 1991).
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private cause of action against asbestos manufacturers and suppliers
for the cost of removal of asbestos-containing material from building
structures. 8 In Chevron, the Fifth Circuit reversed the district court
and held that, as a result of amendments to the Clean Water Act,
it is now appropriate to assess civil penalties for small discharges of
oil into surface waters even if the responsible party provides evidence
that no actual harm was caused by the discharge. 9
In Carr, the Fifth Circuit, on petition for rehearing, reversed
its prior opinion and adopted a two-part test for determining the
essential element of proving an "on-going violation" by a defendant
in a citizen's suit brought under section 1365 of the Federal Water
Pollution Control Act, 0 commonly known as the Clean Water Act."
Thus, a citizen suing for violations of the Clean Water Act may not
maintain an action for a "wholly past" violation, but is entitled
only to seek civil penalties and injunctive relief if the defendant's
acts constitute an "on-going violation" at the time the complaint is
filed.' 2 The opinion also sets forth an excellent and succinct discussion of subject matter jurisdiction, standing, and mootness in citizens' suits as each relates to the requirement that a plaintiff must
prove an on-going violation by the defendant to prevail at a trial
on the merits.' 3
The Fifth Circuit also decided several other cases in the environmental law area; however, these cases neither break new ground
nor address substantive environmental law issues.' 4 Therefore, they
will not be discussed in this article.

8. 906 F.2d at 1064. See infra text accompanying notes 100-132.
9. 919 F.2d at 30-31. See infra text accompanying notes 133-152.
10. 33 U.S.C. § 1365 (1988).
11. 931 F.2d at 1062.
12. Id. See infra text accompanying notes 153-194.
13. 931 F.2d at 1060-66.
14. In Sierra Club v. Yeutter, 926 F.2d 429 (5th Cir. Mar. 1991), the district court (1)
found the United States Forest Service (USFS) in violation of two sections of the Endangered
Species Act of 1973, 16 U.S.C. sections 1536(a)(2), and 1538(a)(l)(B) for allowing certain
timber management practices to jeopardize the survival of the red-cockatoo woodpecker
(RCW), (2) enjoined these harmful management practices, and (3) ordered the USFS to
promulgate a comprehensive plan for timber management practices that would maximize the
chances that the RCW would survive. Id. at 440. Upon receiving the plan, the district court
modified its injunction to accept some portions of the plan, but it also rejected other portions
and ordered the USFS to submit another plan specifying certain provisions that must be in
the second plan. Id. at 443. The Fifth Circuit upheld the injunction against the detrimental
timber management practices pending the formulation of a plan protecting the RCW and
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THE COMPREHENSIVE ENVIRONMENTAL RESPONSE COMPENSATION
AND LIABILITY ACT

A "Limit" on the Trend of Expanding Individual Liability
for Corporate Officers, Directors, and Shareholders

1. Introduction to Riverside Market Development Corp. v.
International Building Products, Inc.

5

6
In Riverside, the Fifth Circuit addressed the controversial issue
of the direct liability for response costs of an individual officer,

stated that the district court properly applied the arbitrary and capricious standard in reviewing
the first comprehensive plan submitted to it. Id. at 438. The Fifth Circuit, however, vacated
the portions of the district court's orders that dictated in advance the substance of the second
plan that the USFS was ordered to submit and held that the district court exceeded its
authority by preempting the use of administrative discretion by the USFS. Id. at 440. The
Fifth Circuit held that the district court only has the authority to review the plan that the
USFS determines to comply with the ESA and the court does not have the authority to
substitute its judgment for the agency's. Id. In United States v. Sellers, 926 F.2d 410 (5th
Cir. Mar. 1991), the Fifth Circuit heard the appeal of James Sellers (Sellers) who was
convicted and sentenced to 41 months imprisonment under the Resource Conservation and
Recovery Act, 42 U.S.C. section 6928(d)(2)(A) for knowingly and willingly disposing of
hazardous waste without a permit. 926 F.2d at 413. The appeal was based on contentions
that the district court erred in admitting certain testimony, in its charge to the jury, and its
application of the United States Sentencing Guidelines. Id. The Fifth Circuit found no errors
and confirmed the conviction and the sentence. Id. at 418. In United States v. Coastal
Refining and Marketing, Inc., 911 F.2d 1036 (5th Cir. Sept. 1990), the court reviewed the
constitutionality of mandatory penalties under a former provision of a provision of the Clean
Air Act, 42 U.S.C. § 7545(d) (1988); however, even though the court upheld their constitutionality, these mandatory penalty provisions were removed by the 1990 amendments to the
Act.
15. 931 F.2d 327 (5th Cir. May 1991).
16. The controversial nature of this issue can be measured by the number of periodical
articles that it has generated. See Kerns and Smith, Director and Officer Liability for
Environmental Clean-up Costs, 33 FoR THE DEF. 18, (Apr. 1991); Comment, Parent Corporation Liability Under CERCLA: Toward a Uniform Rule of Decision, 22 PAC. L.J. 854
(1991); Little, Towards Respect for CorporateSeparatenessin Defining the Reach of CERCLA
Liability, 44 SW. L.J. 1499 (1991); White and Sullivan, Piercing the Corporate Veil Under
CERCLA, 54 TEx. B.J. 258 (1991); Comment, Mens Rea Requirements Under CERCLA:
Implications for Corporate Directors, Officers, and Employees, 6 SANTA CLARA ComPTrER
& HIGH-TECH L.J. (1991); Note, Piercing the Corporate Veil Under CERCLA: To Control
or Not to Control - Which is the Answer?, 59 U. CIN. L. REV. 975 (1991); Elizabeth Ann
Glass Geltman, Shareholder Liability for Improper Disposal of Hazardous Waste, 95 COMM.
L.J. 385 (1990); Blankenship and Mandel, 'Unveiled: Corporate Officer, Parent, and Successor Liability Under CERCLA, 4 TuL. ENvL. L.J. 213 (1990); Comment, Liability of
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director, or controlling shareholder of a closely held corporation as
an "operator" under CERCLA.17 This "operator" liability is not
derived from the traditional corporate law principle of "piercing the
corporate veil" under which liability is imposed on corporate principals as a result of an abuse by them of the corporate entity form
that would normally have insulated them from liability. 8 Rather,
this liability is imposed directly on the individual if the court
determines that the corporate principal fits within the definition of
an "operator," and is imposed notwithstanding the full observance
of corporate formalities and the presence of the traditional factors
that would prevent the "piercing of the corporate veil."' 19

Corporate Officers Under CERCLA: An Ounce of Prevention May Be the Cure; 20 ENVTL.
L. REP. 10377 (1990); Note, To Pierce or Not to Pierce? When is the Question. Developing
a Federal Rule of Decision for Piercing the Corporate Veil Under CERCLA 68 WASH. U.L.Q.
733 (1990); Rita O'Hara, Minimizing Exposure to Environmental Liabilities for Corporate
Officers, Directors, Shareholders and Successors, 6 SANTA CLARA COMPUTER & HIGH-TECH.
L.J. (1990); Cain, Shareholders Liability Under Superfund: Corporate Veil or Vale of Tears?,
J. LEGIS. 1 (1990).
17. To impose liability for the clean-up of contaminated property under CERCLA, courts
generally require that the following elements be established: (1) a release or threatened release
of a hazardous substance has occurred at a facility; (2) the plaintiff has incurred response
costs in connection with the release or threatened release; (3) the defendant falls within one
of four categories of liable parties established by CERCLA; and (4) the response costs are
consistent or not inconsistent with the National Contingency Plan. See generally Amoco Oil
Co. v. Borden, Inc., 889 F.2d 664, 667 (5th Cir. 1989), (a more precise and comprehensive
discussion of the elements of a claim under CERCLA is beyond the scope of this survey
article). Two of the categories of responsible parties form the basis for "operator" liability:
(1) the current owner and operator of the facility and (2) the owner and operator of the
facility at the time that the disposal of hazardous substances occurred. See 42 U.S.C. §
9607(a)(1) and (2). See also United States v. Maryland Bank & Trust Co., 632 F.Supp 573,
578 (D. Md. 1986) (interpreting the language "owner and operator" to mean owner or
operator). A third category of liable persons has also been utilized to impose individual
liability on corporate officers. In this category, a liable person includes any "person who by
contract, agreement, or otherwise ... arranged with a transporter for transport for disposal
...of hazardous substances. . ." 412 U.S.C. § 9607(a)(3). This category will be referred to
in this article as "arranger" liability. All of the cases imposing individual liability as an
"arranger" under section 9607(a)(3) have required personal participation in the corporate
hazardous waste disposal practice that gave rise to CERCLA liability. See infra notes 43-68
and accompanying text. The Fifth Circuit is the first court to apply the "participation"
standard to an analysis of "operator" liability under § 9607(a)(1) or (2) of CERCLA and
exonerate a corporate principal. Previous courts had utilized a "strict liability" or "prevention" standard which, in effect, potentially imposes CERCLA liability on virtually all officers
of closely held corporations. See infra notes 45-86 and accompanying text.
18. See Riverside Mkt. Dev. Corp. v. International Bldg. Prod., Inc., 931 F.2d 327, 330
(5th Cir. May 1991).
19. See id.
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Facts and ProceduralHistory of Riverside

In 1986, the plaintiff, Riverside Market Development Corporation (RMDC), approached the corporate defendant, International
Building Products, Inc. (IBP), and offered to purchase an asbestos
manufacturing facility owned by IBP.20 The facility, which was
located in uptown New Orleans, Louisiana, had operated continuously for fifty-seven years as an asbestos manufacturing plant until
IBP halted operation in 1985.21 RMDC planned to demolish the
manufacturing facility and develop a shopping center on the site.
The original asking price of $3,400,000 was lowered to $410,000 in
return for the plaintiff's agreement to demolish the facility at its
own expense. 22 During the demolition of the facility, RMDC was
forced to incur response costs to remediate hazardous waste, which
had been improperly disposed of at the site, including "asbestos and
by-products of the asbestos manufacturing process." 23
RMDC subsequently sued IBP to recover its cleanup costs.
RMDC also sued two corporate officers, Gene Prescott (Prescott)
and Girard von Dohlen (von Dohlen).24 Prescott owned eighty-five
percent of IBP's stock and von Dohlen owned the balance of the
stock.25 Prescott served as the corporate secretary as well as chairman
of the board of directors while von Dohlen held the position of
president and chief executive officer. 26 As president and chief executive officer, von Dohlen managed the asbestos manufacturing facility on a daily basis, "spending approximately 40% of his work
week at the New Orleans factory .... "27 Alternatively, Prescott's
only management activities were reviewing financial statements regularly and visiting the facility two to four times a year. The purposes
of these visits included: "attending the annual Christmas Party,
attending a meeting for an Erector's Association, some of whose
members were IBP customers, and brief visits with executive per-

sonnel. "128

20.
21.
22.
23.
24.
25.
26.
27.
28.

Id. at 328.
Id.
Id.
Id.at 329.
Id.at 328.
Id.
Id.
Id.
Id.
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The plaintiffs brought suit against Prescott and von Dohlen
under CERCLA claiming that as individual officers of IBP they
were "owners or operators" and, therefore, were within the category
29
of responsible parties set forth in section 9607(a)(2) of CERCLA.
The defendants filed motions for summary judgment "arguing among
other things, that the individual officers of IBP were not 'owners
or operators' as defined by CERCLA." 0 The district court granted
Prescott's motion and dismissed the plaintiff's complaint against
him entirely. By contrast, the district court denied von Dohlen's
motion and held that there was a genuine issue of material fact as
to whether von Dohlen was an "operator."'" The plaintiff appealed
the granting of Prescott's motion for summary judgment and the
dismissal of plaintiff's CERCLA claim against Prescott. Therefore,
the sole issue before the court in Riverside was "whether or not
Prescott, as a majority shareholder and officer of IBP, may be held
personally liable for cleanup costs as an owner or operator of the
asbestos manufacturing facility under section 9607(a) of CERCLA.,,

32

3.

Decision and Analysis of Fifth Circuit in Riverside

The Fifth Circuit affirmed the granting of summary judgment
in favor of Prescott. In doing so, the court first established a
"participation standard" for determining as a matter of law whether
an individual officer or director of a corporation is an "operator:"
CERCLA prevents individuals from hiding behind the corporate
shield when, "as operators," they themselves actually participate
in the wrongful conduct prohibited by the Act. In determining
liability in cases like the one now before us, we must look to the
extent of the defendant's personal participation in the alleged
33
wrongful conduct.
Having established the "actual personal participation" standard
for liability, the court concluded that the plaintiff had failed to
present "any evidence showing that Prescott personally participated

29. 42 U.S.C. 9607(a)(2) (1988). See supra note 17 for discussion of "operator" liability.
30. Riverside Mkt. Dev. Corp. v. International Bldg. Prod., Inc., 931 F.2d 327, 329
(5th Cir. May 1991).
31.
32.

Id.
Id.

33.

Id. at 330 (emphasis added).
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in any conduct that violated CERCLA. ' 3 4 The court held that
Prescott could base his motion for summary judgment on the absence
of any evidence that he even had the opportunity to participate
personally in the wrongful conduct of IBP, much less actually
participate in the conduct." Since the plaintiff had not presented
any evidence that a triable issue of fact existed as to whether Prescott
was an "owner or operator," no genuine issue of material fact
36
existed and summary judgment was, therefore, appropriate.
4.
(a)

Significance of Riverside
The "Participation" Standard

The significance of the Riverside case lies in the adoption by
the Fifth Circuit of an "actual personal participation" standard for
the imposition of individual CERCLA liability on corporate officers,
directors, and controlling shareholders 3" as an "operator" under
section 9607(a)(1) or (2) of CERCLA. Pursuant to this "participation" standard, a corporate principal will be individually liable under
CERCLA as an "operator" only if the individual actually personally
participated in the actionable conduct of the corporation. 8 The
"participation" standard first accepts, without extensive analysis,
the principle that a corporate principal may, in some circumstances,
be held liable as an "operator" under CERCLA. 39 Then, to determine in which circumstances liability will actually be imposed, the
standard uses for guidance the traditional corporate doctrine that a
corporate officer is individually liable for the torts committed by a

34. Id.
35. Id.
36. Id. at 329. For authority for granting a summary judgment based on the absence of
evidence demonstrating the existence of a triable fact, the court cited Celotex Corp. v. Catrett,
477 U.S. 317, 325 (1986) and Southmark Properties v. Charles House Corp., 742 F.2d 862,
877 (5th Cir. 1984). See 477 U.S. at 325; 742 F.2d at 877.
37. Throughout this article, the term "corporate principal" will sometimes be used to
refer collectively to officers, directors, and controlling shareholders of closely held corporations.
38. Riverside Mkt. Dev. Corp. v. International Bldg. Prod., Inc., 931 F.2d 327, 328
(5th Cir. May 1991).
39. See id. at 330. The Fifth Circuit noted the absence of a meaningful statutory
definition of "operator," but stated that: "we can conceive of situations where an individual
director, officer or employee of a corporation may be considered an 'operator' of a
manufacturing facility as defined by CERCLA .
I..."
Id.
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corporation if the officer personally participated in the wrongful
conduct. 40 The source of liability is the term "operator" in CERCLA
and not corporate common law; however, the analysis of when to
impose this liability appears to be no different than the corporate
common law analysis .4 As stated by the Fifth Circuit, the critical
inquiry in the "participation" standard is the extent of participation
in the wrongful conduct. 42 Although the court provides no guidance
as to the extent of participation required to impose liability, it is at
least clear that some degree of actual personal participation is
required; mere capacity and authority are not enough.
(b)

Review of Cases Preceding Riverside

To understand more fully the significance of Riverside, a chronological survey of the cases interpreting individual corporate principal
liability under CERCLA is required. In reviewing these cases, one
must distinguish between those cases that impose liability as an
"operator" under section 9607(a)(1) or (2) of CERCLA and those
that impose liability as an "arranger" under section 9607(c)(3) of
CERCLA.4 3 Courts imposing "arranger" liability have consistently
applied a "participation" standard.4 Until Riverside, courts impos-

40. 931 F.2d at 330.
41. "A corporate officer is individually liable for the torts he ... personally commits
on behalf of the corporation and cannot shield himself . . . behind a corporation when he
...
is an actual participant in the tort." United States v. Northeastern Pharmaceutical &
Chem. Co., 810 F.2d 726, 744 (8th Cir. 1986), cert. denied, 484 U.S. 848 (1987) [hereinafter
NEPPACCO], (citing Donsco, Inc. v. Casper Corp., 587 F.2d 602, 606 (3d Cir. 1978)). In
NEPACCO, the Eighth Circuit actually used both the "participation" test and the "strict
liability" test discussed later in this article. See infra text accompanying notes 50-57. The
court held one officer, who had direct responsibility for the disposal of hazardous substances,
liable under CERCLA under the "participation" standard. 810 F.2d at 744. The Eighth
Circuit then held the president of the company, who had no direct corporate involvement in
or knowledge of the hazardous waste disposal which gave rise to the corporate liability, liable
utilizing the "prevention" test and citing his ultimate authority as president over all corporate
activities. Id. at 745. Although the president was held liable by the court in NEPACCO
under RCRA, the court stated that it would utilize the same analysis in a CERCLA context.
Id.
42. 931 F.2d at 330.
43. See supra note 17 and accompanying text.
44. See United States v. Northernaire Plating, 670 F. Supp 742, 747 (W.D. Mich. 1987)
(sole shareholder and president of Northernaire was actively involved in daily management
and admitted personal involvement in the hazardous waste disposal activity which gave rise
to CERCLA liability for the corporation); United States v. Ward, 618 F. Supp. 884 (E.D.N.C.
1985) (president and majority shareholder was personally involved in disposal decisions); see
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ing "operator" liability utilized a "strict liability" or "prevention"

standard .45
The earliest district court cases approached the issue of corporate
principal liability in a manner dissimilar to the Riverside "participation" test. These courts were faced with-the issue of whether a
corporate principal could be a covered person under section 9607(a)(3),
the subsection establishing "generator" or "arranger" liability. Under section 9607(3), "any person who ... arranged for disposal...
or arranged with a transporter to transport for disposal ... of
also United States v. Mottolo, 629 F. Supp. 56, 60 (D.N.H. 1984) (genuine issue of material
fact existed as to whether shareholder personally arranged for hazardous waste disposal on
behalf of the corporation).
45. See New York v. Shore Realty Corp., 759 F.2d 1032, 1052 (2d Cir. 1985) (sole
shareholder and president of Shore Realty was held liable because he was in charge of the
facility in question); Vermont v. Staco, Inc., 684 F. Supp. 822, 832 (S.D. Vt. 1988) (individual
defendants, who were owning and managing stockholders of the corporation, were held
personally liable in their respective individual capacities because they participated in the
management and control of the corporation's operations). See also Kelley v. Thomas Solvent
Co., 727 F. Supp. 1532, 1544-45 (W.D. Mich. 1989) (Court invoked the "prevention" test
but found issues of material fact regarding whether individual was an operator precluded
summary judgment); Kelley ex. rel. Michigan Natural Resources Comm'n v. Arco Indus.
Corp., 723 F. Supp. 1214, 1219-20 (W.D. Mich. 1989) (court determined that it would look
to evidence of an individual's authority to control, among other things, waste handling
practices to determine liability under the "prevention text").
46. In the district court NEPACCO opinion, the court found that a corporate officer
could be a "person" under the statutory definition found in section 9601(21) of CERCLA.
See United States v. Northeastern Pharmaceutical & Chem. Co., Inc., 579 F. Supp. 823
(w.D. Mo. 1984). Citing Apex Oil Co. v. United States, 530 F.2d 1291 (8th Cir. 1976), cert.
denied, 429 U.S. 827, an Eighth Circuit opinion that interpreted the definition of "person
in charge" under the Clean Water Act, the court concluded that the term "person" in section
9607(a)(3) could include both the corporate and individual defendant. 579 F. Supp. at 84748. After concluding that a corporate employee could be a "person," the court had no
difficulty in determining that one of the individual defendants personally participated in
arranging for the disposal of corporate waste and was, therefore, a covered person. See id.
The court further supported its conclusion by referring to the analogous corporate law
principle of the individual liability of a corporate officer for corporate torts in which it
participates. See id. at 848 (citing Escude Cruz v. Ortho Pharmaceutical Corp., 619 F.2d
902, 907 (1st Cir. 1980)). In United States v. Ward, the district court simply observed that
the statutory definition of "person" included individuals as well as corporations and concluded
that: "[A] corporate officer of a company who exercises authority for the company's
operations and participates in arranging for disposal of hazardous waste is liable under
section 107(a)(3) for clean-up costs." 618 F. Supp 884, 894 (E.D.N.C. 1985). The only
authority cited for this pronouncement was the earlier district court decision in NEPACCO.
Id. The district court in Mottolo followed the same reasoning as Ward and the district court
in NEPACCO. See United States v. Mottolo, 629 F. Supp. 56, 59-60 (D.N.M. 1984). It cites
only the district court in NEPACCO for authority and, like NEPACCO, cites the Fifth
Circuit in Esude Cruz for the analogous liability of individual officers for corporate tortious
conduct in which they participate. See id.
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hazardous substances ... " is a covered person subject to liability
for clean-up costs if the other elements of CERCLA liability are
established.4 7 In each of these cases, the evidence clearly demonstrated that the individual defendant actively participated in the
supervision of the specific hazardous waste disposal activity of the
corporate defendant that gave rise to the plaintiff's claim.
These early district court cases interpreted the scope of the
definition of "person" under section 9607(a)(3) for the purpose of
determining whether a corporate principal who actively participated
in "arranging" for disposal of corporate hazardous waste was
directly an "arranger" and thus individually liable.4 These cases did
not need to, and did not, discuss the issue of whether a corporate
principal who did not actively participate in this "arranging" would
also be a person. 49 The Eighth Circuit in United States v. Northeastern Pharmaceutical& Chemical Co. (NEPACCO)10 also did not
discuss the issue in connection with section 9607(a)(3) "arranger"
liability." Instead, the Eighth Circuit cited the analogous corporate
law principle which holds individual officers liable for corporate
tortious conduct in which they participate, and previous district
court cases having held an individual corporate officer liable under
section 9607(a)(3) "because he personally arranged for the transportation and disposal of hazardous substances on behalf of NEPACCO
and thus actually participated in NEPACCO's CERCLA viola52
tions."
If the Eighth Circuit opinion in NEPACCO had stopped after
its discussion of "arranger" liability, its holding would simply be
consistent with the earlier district court cases' use of the "participation" standard for analyzing "arranger" liability under section
9607(a)(3).13 The court proceeded, however, to discuss whether the
individual defendants could be individually liable under section 7003(a)
of the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act (RCRA) . 4 The

47. 42 U.S.C. § 9607(a)(3) (1988). See infra discussion at notes 116-30.
48. See United States v. Ward, 618 F. Supp. 884, 894-95 (E.D.N.C. 1985); United States
v. Northeastern Pharmaceutical & Chem. Co., 579 F. Supp. 823, 847-48 (W.D. Mo. 1984);
United States v. Mottolo, 629 F. Supp. 56, 60 (D.N.H. 1984).
49. See 618 F. Supp. 884; 579 F. Supp. 823; 629 F. Supp. 56.
50. 810 F.2d 726 (8th Cir. 1986), cert. denied, 484 U.S. 848 (1987).
51. Id. at 743-44.
52. Id. at 744 (emphasis added).
53. See supra notes 37-42 and accompanying text.
54. 810 F.2d at 745. See 42 U.S.C. § 7003(a) (1988).
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court observed that the definition of "person" under RCRA section
6903(15)" "includes both individuals and corporations and does not
exclude corporate officers and employees." '5 6 Finally, the court pronounced what equates to a strict liability standard for all corporate
principals in closely held corporations: "Thus, Lee and Michaels
or
can be held individually liable if they were personally involved ' in
s7
directly responsiblefor corporate acts in violation of RCRA."
In choosing the phrase "directly responsible for corporate acts,"
the court lowers the threshold of liability from the previous "participation" standard used by the district courts to a "strict liability"
standard.5 8 The court was aware of the distinction between actual
participation and mere responsibility emphasizing that "Michaels
was not personally involved in the actual decision to transport and
dispose of the hazardous substances . . ., however, Michaels was
the individual in charge of and directly responsible for all of
NEPACCO's operations ... and he had the ultimate authority to
control the disposal of NEPACCO's hazardous substances." 5 9 Although the court was interpreting RCRA rather than CERCLA, this
distinction has not been held to be significant by subsequent courts,
and the court itself indicated that its analysis of individual liability
under RCRA and CERCLA would be similar. 60
Thus, as a result of the Eighth Circuit's opinion in NEPACCO,
corporate principals are faced with the prospect of strict liability for
clean-up costs as an "arranger" under section 9607(a)(3) if the
closely held corporation that she manages disposes of or arranges
for the disposal of hazardous waste. Liability under NEPACCO can
be imposed if the corporate principal has either direct responsibility
for, or ultimate authority over, corporate hazardous waste practices
even if the corporate principal does not directly participate.
This spectre of strict liability had already been raised by the
First Circuit in New York v. Shore Realty Corp.61 However, unlike
NEPACCO and the early district court cases which had addressed
"arranger" liability under section 9607(a)(3), the First Circuit in

55.
56.
57.
58.
59.
60.
61.

42 U.S.C. § 6903(15) (1988).
810 F.2d at 745.
Id. (emphasis added).
See id.
Id.
Id.
759 F.2d 1032 (2d Cir. 1985).

19921

ENVIRONMENTAL LA W

Shore addressed the issue of whether a corporate principal could be
an "operator" under section 9607(a)(1) or (2).62 The First Circuit
noted that the definition of "owner or operator" referred to "any
person owning or operating" a facility and that the definition of
"person" includes individuals as well as corporations. 6 In a questionable display of statutory construction and logic, the court then
quoted the "secured creditor" exemption6 and stated, without any
explanation as to its reasoning that:
IT]he use of this exception implies that an owning stockholder
who manages the corporation ... is liable under CERCLA as
an 'owner or operator' . .. In any event, Leogrande is in charge
of the operation of the facility in question, and as such is an
"operator" within the meaning of CERCLA. 65
When quoted out of context, the First Circuit in Shore, joins
the Eighth Circuit in NEPACCO and establishes what appears to
be a strict liability standard for corporate principals as "operators"
under section 9607(a)(1) or (2) as well as "arrangers" under section
9607(a)(3).6 Hence, any corporate principal who is in charge of,
responsible for, or who has ultimate authority over the management
of a closely held corporation can be held liable under Shore or
NEPACCO based merely on their position in the management structure of the corporate defendant.67 This strict liability is imposed on
the basis of responsibility and authority to prevent and abate conduct; not knowledge of, or participation in specific conduct.6

62. Although the distinction is very critical, the court never directly addressed whether
the individual defendant was liable under section 9607(a)(1) or section 9607(a)(2). See 759
F.2d 1032; 42 U.S.C. §§ 9607(a)(1) and (2) (1988).
63. 759 F.2d at 1052-53.
64. The phrase "owner or operator" is circularly defined as a person "owning or
operating such facility." See 42 U.S.C. § 9607(a)(20)(A)(ii) (1988). The statutory definition
expressly exempts "a person, who, without participating in the management of a facility,
holds indicia of ownership primarily to protect his security interest in the . . . facility." Id.
§ 9601(20)(A)(iii). The purpose of this exemption was the protection of secured creditors but
the court in Shore apparently concluded that just as a secured creditor who participates in
management of a facility can become liable, so too can a shareholder who participates in
management. 759 F.2d at 1052.
65. Id.
66. See id. at 1032.
67. See id.; 810 F.2d 726 (8th Cir. 1986), cert. denied, 484 U.S. 848 (1987).
68. This strict liability theory for individuals is similar to the standard used by courts
that have held parent corporations directly liable as an owner or operator for the CERCLA
problems of their subsidiaries. This direct parent liability is imposed without reference to any
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As demonstrated by the opinion in Vermont v. Staco, Inc.,69
this "strict liability" standard is easy to utilize.70 Citing Shore, the
court dispatched the legal analysis of the issue of individual liability
in a single sentence: "The individual defendants, as owning and
managing stockholders, are personally liable in their respective executive capacities in the corporate structure."''1 Staco is especially
significant because the court held that Chase Instruments Corporation, which was the parent of Staco, Inc., the company that actually
owned and operated the mercury thermometer manufacturing facility
involved in the case, and the president and chairman of the board
of Chase Instruments Corporation were within the scope of "owners
and operators. ' 72 The court noted, however, that the president and
chairperson of the parent corporation were actively involved in the
management of Staco, Incorporated, the subsidiary company.73 Nevertheless, Staco stands as authority for the extension of the strict
liability standard of NEPACCO and Shore to the corporate principals of a parent corporation, which in turn, had been held strictly
liable for the conduct of its subsidiaries. Under Staco, no corporate
principal in a group of affiliated closely held corporations is insulated
from liability.
In two related opinions, 74 which represent by far the most
thorough judicial attempt to explore the issue of individual liability,
the Western District of Michigan expressly rejected the implication

factors for piercing the corporate veil or any other traditional corporate doctrines. See, e.g.,
United States v. Kayser-Roth Corp., 910 F.2d 24, 26-27 (1st Cir. 1990), cert. denied, 111 S.
Ct. 957 (1991); Mobay Corp. v. Allied-Signal, Inc., 761 F. Supp. 345, 354 (D.N.J. 1991);
Rockwell Int'l Corp. v. IU Int'l Corp., 702 F. Supp. 1384, 1390 (N.D. Ill. 1988); Idaho v.
Bunker Hill Co., 635 F. Supp. 665, 671-72 (D. Idaho 1986). But see Joslyn Mfg. Co. v.
T.L. James & Co., 893 F.2d 80, 82 (5th Cir. Jan. 1990), cert. denied, 59 U.S.L.W. 3654
(U.S. Feb. 19, 1991) (No. 90-69). In the same manner as Riverside, the Fifth Circuit in
Joslyn departed from these strict liability cases in which a parent would always be an
"operator" in relation to its subsidiary and determined that a parent may be held liable for
its subsidiary's CERCLA problems only if liability would be impressed under traditional
corporate common law principles. See 893 F.2d at 83.
69. 684 F. Supp. 822 (D.H. 1988).
70. See id. at 831.
71. Id. at 832.
72. See id. at 831-32.
73. Id. at 832.
74. Kelley v. Thomas Solvent, 727 F. Supp. 1532 (W.D. Mich. 1989); Kelley ex rel.
Michigan Natural Resources Comm'n v. Arco Indus. Corp., 723 F. Supp. 1214 (W.D. Mich.
1989).
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of NEPACCO, Shore, and Staco that corporate principals have strict
liability as "persons" or "operators" merely because of their positions of authority in the corporate management structure. 75
In Kelley v. Thomas Solvent Co. 76 and Kelley ex rel Michigan
NaturalResources Commission v. Arco IndustrialCorp.,7 the Western District of Michigan attempted to fashion a highly fact-specific,
case-by-case "prevention" test for determining the individual CERCLA liability of corporate principals. The Western District of Michigan specifically distinguished its test from both of the traditional
corporate law doctrines of "piercing the corporate veil" and imposing individual liability for direct participation in tortious corporate conduct. 78 Observing the absence of a statutory definition of
"operator" in CERCLA that provides any meaningful analytical
guidance, the court undertook to establish what it believed should
be the appropriate standard. 79 The court expressly rejected a strict
liability standard, holding that not all corporate principals in every
instance will have individual liability.80 The appropriate test for
liability as an "operator," according to the Western District of
Michigan, is "whether the individual in the close corporation could
have prevented or significantly abated the hazardous waste discharge ..... 8nThis "prevention" test takes into consideration a
series of factors: The general corporate management authority of
the individual, the specific responsibility of the individual for environmental matters, and the opportunity to direct and supervise those

matters
75.

82

See 727 F. Supp. at 1543; 723 F. Supp. at 1219.

76. 727 F. Supp. 1532 (W.D. Mich. 1989).
77. 723 F. Supp. 1214 (W.D. Mich. 1989).
78. See 727 F. Supp. at 1542. All cases addressing the issue of the individual liability
of corporate principals agree that individual liability under CERCLA as an "operator" is
different from the traditional corporate law doctrine of "piercing the corporate veil" in
which the owners or management "of a less than bona fide corporation" are held liable for
the acts of the entity. See, e.g., Riverside Mkt. Dev. v. International Bldg. Prod., Inc., 931
F.2d 327, 330 (5th Cir. May 1991); NEPACCO, 810 F.2d 726, 744-45 (8th Cir. 1986), cert.
denied, 484 U.S. 848 (1987).
79. See 727 F. Supp. at 1543.
80. Id.
81. Id. This language is similar to that employed by an early Fifth Circuit case interpreting
the definition of owner-operator under the Clean Water Act, 33 U.S.C. § 1321(a)(6). See
United States v. Mobil Oil Corp., 464 F.2d 1124, 1127 (5th Cir. 1972). It is interesting that
the Fifth Circuit in Riverside did not utilize or distinguish Mobil Oil which based liability on
the "capacity to prevent and abate." Id.
82. See 727 F. Supp. at 1543-44.
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Although by creating a multiple set of factors within the "prevention" test the court in Thomas Solvent appeared to have fashioned a test which would be flexible enough to meet any conceivable
situation fairly, in practice it is still hard to imagine a situation in
which the corporate principals of a closely held corporate defendant
in a CERCLA action would not be at risk of liability under this
test.83 However, just such a situation may have presented itself in
Riverside" and, perhaps, even the Western District of Michigan,
applying the "prevention" test, would not have imposed individual
liability on Prescott given his limited corporate management activity.8" A less sophisticated use of the "prevention" test by another
court not comfortable with the multiple factors articulated by Thomas
Solvent could, however, easily have held that Prescott, as an eightyfive percent shareholder and chairperson of the board of directors
of IBP, could have prevented the wrongful conduct of IBP by
exercising his ultimate control over corporate management.8 Certainly, a court utilizing the strict liability standard of NEPACCO,
Shore, and Staco would have held Prescott liable.
(c) Summary of Cases Preceding Riverside
87
The significance of the Fifth Circuit's opinion in Riverside
becomes more apparent when viewed against the background of the
preceding cases that have analyzed the issue of individual corporate
principal liability under CERCLA. Riverside is the first reported
decision in which a court granted a summary judgment for a
corporate principal. In a very brief analysis, the Fifth Circuit chose
not to dignify the "prevention" test of the Western District of
Michigan by even citing its two scholarly and comprehensive decisions. It also chose not to discuss the strict liability implications of
NEPACCO,88 Shore,89 and Staco.90 In fact, the only case in this
area cited by the Fifth Circuit in its opinion was NEPACCO, which

83.
84.
85.
86.
87.
88.
89.
90.

Id.
931 F.2d 327 (5th Cir. May 1991).
See id.
See id. at 328.
931 F.2d 327 (5th Cir. May 1991).
810 F.2d 726, (8th Cir. 1986), cert. denied, 484 U.S. 848 (1987).
New York v. Shore Realty Corp., 759 F.2d 1032 (2nd Cir. 1985).
Vermont v. Stacco, Inc., 684 F. Supp. 822 (D. Vt. 1988).
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it cited only for its principle that the individual liability sought to
be imposed is different from the traditional concept of "piercing
the veil." 91 Instead, the court restricts the authority for its "participation" standard to a single cite from a venerable corporate treatise:
"Corporate officers are liable for their torts, although committed
when acting officially.''9 Rather than follow the Western District
of Michigan's lead and attempt to fashion a multiple prong test for
liability unique to CERCLA, or apply strict liability without analysis
like the Michigan court in Staco, the Fifth Circuit looked to the
analogous traditional corporate law concept of individual liability
for corporate torts in which the individual participates. 3
In so doing, it became the first circuit court to adopt the
"participation" standard in an "operation" case under section
9607(a)(2). The early "participation" standard used by district courts
in "arranger" cases had been transformed by NEPACCO9 and
Shore5 in "operator" cases, into a strict liability standard which
threatens personal liability for all corporate principals of closely
held corporations. The Western District in of Michigan Arco9 and
Thomas Solvent" attempted to step back from a strict liability test
in section 9607(a)(2) "operator" cases and proposed an elaborate
"prevention" test to determine in what circumstances liability is
appropriate. In Riverside, the Fifth Circuit stepped back even further
and applied the "participation" standard .9
(d) Reflections on Riverside
In the Fifth Circuit, after Riverside, some degree of actual
personal involvement in the corporate practices that gave rise to
corporate CERCLA liability appears necessary to impose individual
liability on corporate principals. The authority of an individual to
control or prevent those practices is not alone sufficient to impose

91.
92.

See 931 F.2d at 330.
(citing 3A STEPHAN M. FLANAGAN and CHARLES R. KEATING, FLETCHER CYCLOPEDIA OF THE LAW OF PRIVATE CORPORATIONS § 1135 (perm. ed. rev. vol. 1986)).
93. 931 F.2d at 330.
94. 810 F.2d 726, (8th Cir. 1986), cert. denied, 484 U.S. 848 (1987).
95. 750 F.2d 1032 (2nd Cir. 1985).
96. Kelley ex rel. Michigan Natural Resources Comm'n v. Arco Indus. Corp., 723 F.
Supp. 1214 (W.D. Mich. 1989).
97. Kelley v. Thomas Solvent Co., 727 F. Supp. 1532 (W.D. Mich. 1989).
98. See 931 F.2d at 329-330.

Id.

TEXAS TECH LA W REVIEW

[Vol. 23:261

liability. Riverside, however, does not answer all questions. In determining liability, the Fifth Circuit will "look to the extent of the
defendant's personal participation in the alleged wrongful conduct." 99 But what level of participation is sufficient to impose
liability? Additionally, can a president or executive officer of a
closely held corporation ever be found not to participate personally
in corporate decisions and actions, or corporate inactions or failures?
At a minimum, Riverside should give a degree of comfort to majority
shareholders and to members of the board of directors of closely
held corporations who are not involved in management. As long as
they are not executive officers or otherwise actively involved in the
management of a closely held corporation, the Fifth Circuit does
not appear ready to expand the scope of CERCLA liability to them.
The case also may be more comforting than the "prevention"
standard, and certainly more appealing than the "strict liability"
standard to senior executives of larger corporations with multi-tiered
management hierarchies. The president of a company with a large
management structure is much like Prescott. She may never visit a
particular plant, may not even personally participate in any manner
in hazardous substance management policy, much less individual
plant practices, and may not even personally participate in hiring
and supervising the corporate environmental compliance officer who
is charged with these responsibilities. It could at least be argued
under the "strict liability" and "prevention" test, if they were ever
employed against executives of publicly held companies or large
privately held companies, that the president had the authority,
responsibility, and opportunity to prevent improper activities; however, under the "participation" standard, the absence of personal
participation would seem to preclude liability.
Riverside, however, should not be viewed too optimistically by
executive officers of closely held corporations. Because the Fifth
Circuit did not clarify what degree of participation is sufficient to
avoid or justify the imposition of liability upon corporate principals,
executive officers of closely held corporations will probably still,
even after Riverside and even under a "participation" standard,
have a difficult time proving that they did not "participate" in
corporate hazardous substance management activities.

99.

Id. at 330.
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B.

279

No Remedy for Asbestos Removal from a Building
1.

Introduction

To establish liability under CERCLA for response costs incurred
in connection with asbestos abatement, a plaintiff must meet the
standard elements of a CERCLA claim and must demonstrate that
the defendant fits under one of the four categories of responsible
parties under CERCLA.100 In Dayton Independent School District
v. U.S. Mineral Products,0' the Fifth Circuit analyzed whether
manufacturers and suppliers of asbestos-containing building materials, used in the construction of school buildings, could be considered to have "arranged" for the "disposal" of "hazardous
substances" at a "facility," and thus be liable as responsible persons
under section 9607(a)(3) of CERCLA.10 2 The court held that the
manufacture and sale of asbestos could not reasonably be considered
"disposal" and neither the building, nor the building material itself,
into which the asbestos-containing material was installed, fits into
the "consumer product" exemption to the definition of a "facility." 03 As a result, the court concluded that manufacturers and
suppliers of asbestos-containing materials could not be held liable
under CERCLA for response costs associated with the removal of
asbestos from buildings.104
2.

Facts and ProceduralHistory of Dayton Independent School
District v. U.S. Mineral Products. 0 5

The procedural history of the Dayton case is difficult to summarize briefly and, in any event, is not germane to the significance
of the case. To grossly simplify the history of the complex litigation
which began in 1981, the suit involved the attempt by several hundred
school districts "to recover the costs of removing asbestos-containing
sealant and fireproofing products from various buildings."6 The

100.
101.
102.
text.
103.
104.
105.
106.

See supra note 17 for a general discussion of the elements of a CERCLA claim.
906 F.2d 1059 (5th Cir. July 1990).
See id.; 42 U.S.C. 9607(a)(3) (1988). See also supra notes 46-60 and accompanying
906
Id.
906
Id.

F.2d at 1065.
at 1065-66.
F.2d 1059 (5th Cir. July 1990).
at 1061.
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defendants in the litigation were various asbestos manufacturers and
suppliers. Originally, plaintiffs sought .recovery under state law tort
theories."° However, after consolidation of two cases into the Dayton
case, the plaintiffs filed a consolidated complaint which added a
claim against the defendants under section 9607(a)(3)."" This section
of CERCLA imposes liability upon any person who "arranges" for
the disposal or treatment of hazardous substances." 9 The defendants
filed a motion in district court to dismiss the entire consolidated
complaint, claiming "jurisdictional defect due to plaintiff's failure
to state a claim under CERCLA. .

. ."10

The district court denied

the motions but certified its denial order for interlocutory appeal."'
Therefore, the issue before the Fifth Circuit on appeal was whether
the plaintiffs had "failed to state a claim upon which relief can be
granted under section 107(a) of CERCLA,"" 2 or. to state the issue
in more substantive terms, whether CERCLA provides a "private
right of action to recover the costs of removal of asbestos-contained
3
material from the structures of buildings."1
3. Decision and Analysis of Fifth Circuit in Dayton
In Dayton, the Fifth Circuit held that the plaintiffs failed to
state a claim upon which relief can be granted under CERCLA and
that CERCLA did not create a private cause of action for recovering
the costs of asbestos removal from buildings. 1 4 The analysis of the
Fifth Circuit turned on the statutory definitions of the terms "disposal" and "facility."" ' 5 Section 9607(a)(3) of CERCLA provides in

107.

Id.

108. Id. See 42 U.S.C. 9607(a)(3) (1988).
109. See supra note 17 and accompanying text.
110. Dayton Indep. School Dist. v. U.S. Mineral Prod. Co., 906 F.2d 1059, 1062 (5th
Cir. Jul. 1991).
111. Id.
112. Id. at 1064.
113. Id.
114. 906 F.2d 1059.
115. See id. at 1064-66. The definition of "disposal" set forth in 42 U.S.C. § 6903(3) is:
the discharge, deposit, injection, dumping, spilling, leaking, or placing of any solid
waste or hazardous waste into or on any land or water so that such solid waste or
hazardous waste or any constituent thereof may enter the environment or be emitted
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pertinent part that "any person ... who arranges the disposal...
of hazardous substances . . . at a facility . . . shall be liable" for
response costs incurred in connection with the removal of the hazardous substance."t 6 The defendants did not contest that "asbestos
constitutes a hazardous substance" under CERCLA." 7 The defendants objected to the plaintiffs interpretation of the definitions of
"disposal" and "facility.""1 8 The plaintiffs argued that the buildings
in which the asbestos-containing material was installed constituted a
"facility" and the placing of asbestos into building materials that
were ultimately installed in these buildings constituted "disposal."" 9
The court rejected the plaintiff's "disposal" argument with the
sarcastic statement that "[appellees undertake to turn dumping and
disposal into building construction.' '1 20 The Fifth Circuit looked to
the statutory definition of "disposal" and concluded that the term
was essentially synonymous to "dumping" and that there was simply
no reasonable way the dumping of waste could be equated with the
commercial sale of asbestos-containing building materials for use in
2
construction. '
The court could have based its ruling solely on its rejection of
the plaintiffs' strained interpretation of the term "disposal;" however, the court also rejected the plaintiffs' argument that the buildings in which the asbestos-containing building materials were installed
constituted a "facility."' 22 The statutory definition of the term
"facility" specifically includes a building, but it also specifically
includes an exemption for consumer products. 123 The defendants
into the air or discharged into any waters, including ground waters.
See 42 U.S.C. § 6903(3) (1988).
The definition of "facility" set forth in 42 U.S.C. § 9601(9) is:
any building, structure, installation, equipment, pipe or pipeline ....
well, pit,
pond, lagoon, impoundment, ditch, landfill, storage container, motor vehicle, rolling
stock, or aircraft, or (B) any site or area where a hazardous substance has been
deposited, stored, disposed of, or placed, or otherwise come to be located; but
does not include any consumer product in consumer use or any vessel.
42 U.S.C. § 9601(9) (1988).
116. 42 U.S.C. § 9603(a)(3) (1988) (emphasis added).
117. 906 F.2d 1064.
118. Id. at 1064.
119. Id.
120. Id.
121. Id. at 1066.
122. Id. at 1065.
123. See supra note 115 and accompanying text.
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argued that the consumer product exemption was available because
the "facility" into which the asbestos was placed actually was a
consumer product composed of building materials made of asbestos. 24 The defendants further argued that, since building materials
were obviously consumer products, the building materials fit within
the consumer product exemption and there could be no liability for
placing asbestos into the building materials.'12
The plaintiffs countered that the "consumer product" exemption was not available because the "facilities" in question were not
the building materials into which the asbestos was placed but rather
the buildings in which the material was installed.' 26 The court also
somewhat sarcastically dismissed this argument and described it as
"wasted effort."' 2 The court held that clearly "Congress did not
intend CERCLA to target legitimate manufacturers or sellers of
useful products."'2 The court even suggested that the buildings
1 29
themselves could be considered consumer products.
Since the Fifth Circuit concluded that the sale of asbestoscontaining products does not constitute "disposal" and that the
"consumer product" exemption was available, the court concluded
that the plaintiffs failed to state a claim upon which relief can be
granted under CERCLA.' 30
4. Significance and Summary of Dayton
The holding of the Fifth Circuit in Dayton was not a surprise
and, as noted by the Fifth Circuit in its opinion, every other court
that has addressed this issue has concluded that CERCLA does not
provide a remedy against asbestos manufacturers or suppliers for
asbestos removal from buildings.' The significance of the case,
124. Dayton Indep. School Dist. v. U.S. Mineral Prod. Co., 906 F.2d 1059, 1065 (5th
Cir. Jul. 1991).
125. Id.
126. Id.
127. Id.
128. Id. at 1065.
129. Id. at 1065 n.4.
130. Id. at 1066.
131. See 3550 Stevens Creek Assoc. v. Barclays Bank of Cal., 915 F.2d 1355 (9th Cir.
1990), cert. denied, III S. Ct. 2014, (1991) (released after Dayton); First United Methodist
Church of Hyattsville v. United States Gypsum Co., 882 F.2d 862, 867 (4th Cir. 1989);
Prudential Ins. Co. of Am. v. United States Gypsum Co., 711 F. Supp. 1244 (D.N.J. 1989);
Retirement Community Developers, Inc. v. Merine, 713 F. Supp. 153 (D.Md. 1989); Corp.
of Mercer Univ. v. National Gypsum Co., No. 85-126-3-MAC, 1986 WL 12447 (M.D. Ga.
March 9, 1986).
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therefore, is simply that the Fifth Circuit has placed its authority as
a United States Circuit Court of Appeals firmly behind the position,
which even before Dayton appeared to be well-established, that
CERCLA does not provide a cause of action for the removal of
32
asbestos-containing building materials from buildings.

III.
A.

THE

CLEAN WATER ACT

Civil Penalties Appropriatefor Discharges of Small Quantities
of Oil in the Absence of Actual Harm

1. Facts and ProceduralHistory of Chevron USA, Inc. v. Yost

(Chevron JJ)133
At an administrative hearing before a Coast Guard hearing
officer, Chevron USA, Inc. (Chevron) was assessed a total penalty
of $8,800 for twelve separate accidental discharges of very "small
quantities of oil into an open body of water."' Chevron presented
expert testimony that, even though the small spills produced a visible
sheen on the surface of the water, there was essentially no negative
impact on the environment.3 5
Chevron challenged the assessment of the civil penalties by the
Coast Guard in federal district court. The district court granted a
motion for summary judgment in favor of Chevron holding that as
a matter of law civil penalties could not be assessed in the absence
of proof of actual injury. 36 The district court based its decision on

132. Unlike Dayton, which dealt with asbestos manufacturers and suppliers as CERCLA
defendants, the Ninth Circuit in 3550 Stevens Creek held that a remedy for asbestos removal
does not exist against a. seller of a building that contains asbestos-containing materials. 915
F.2d at 1355. In a recent decision, CP Holdings v. Goldberg-Zoino & Assocs., a federal
district court distinguished 3550 Stevens Creek and held that a remedy for abatement against
a seller of a building composed of asbestos-containing materials does exist under CERCLA.
796 F. Supp. 432 (D.N.H. 1991). The court held that the sale of the building itself, which
the seller knew was to be torn down and disposed of, constituted a "disposal." Id. The CP
Holdings opinion, however, is not contrary to Dayton. In fact, it cites Dayton's holding that
manufacturers and suppliers of asbestos-containing materials should not be held liable with
approval, taking issue only with the dictum that the buildings themselves may be considered
"consumer products." Id.
133. 919 F.2d 27 (5th Cir. Dec. 1990).
134. Id. at 28-29.
135. Id. at 29.
136. Id.
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an earlier Fifth Circuit decision, United States v. Chevron Oil Co.,
of the motion
(Chevron 1).'37 The Coast Guard appealed the 3granting
8
for summary judgment in favor of Chevron.
When each spill occurred, Chevron reported the discharges to
the Coast Guard and the Coast Guard investigated. In connection
with each spill, a sheen was detected. 39 The existence of this sheen
was not contested by Chevron; rather, Chevron simply argued that
no injury had occurred to the environment and, therefore, no penalty
was appropriate. 4 0 The Coast Guard relied solely on a regulation
promulgated by the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) which
sets forth the EPA's determination that any "sheen" resulting from
an oil discharge may be harmful to the environment. 1 4' Therefore,
the issue before the Fifth Circuit in Chevron was whether this
"sheen" regulation, which states that a "sheen" may be harmful,
could be utilized as a basis for assessing a civil penalty when the
responsible party presented evidence that no harm had, in fact,
occurred.142
2.

Decision and Analysis of the Fifth Circuit in Chevron II

The Fifth Circuit reversed the district court's granting of Chevron's motion for summary judgment. 43 In so doing, it overruled its
decision in Chevron L'l" This case is significant because it constituted
a reversal of the court's earlier decision in Chevron I on the identical
issue. The Fifth Circuit based its reversal of the district court and
its own opinion in Chevron I on the fact that the Clean Water Act
had been amended in 1978, after Chevron J145 In 1978, Congress
amended the Clean Water Act to empower the President "to prohibit
any discharge of oil or hazardous substances that the President
concluded 'may be harmful to the public health or welfare of the
United States.' "146 Formerly, the Clean Water Act had prohibited

137.
138.
139.
140.
141.
142.
143.
144.
145.
146.

583 F.2d 1357 (5th Cir. 1978) [hereinafter Chevron 1].
919 F.2d at 28.
Id.
Id. at 29.
Id. See 40 C.F.R. Subpart 110.3 (1990).
919 F.2d at 29.
Id.at 31.
Id. See Chevron I, 583 F.2d 1357.
919 F.2d at 29-30.
919 F.2d at 30 (emphasis added) (citing 33 U.S.C. §§ 1321(b)(3), (4) (1988)).
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discharges of "harmful quantities" of oil and left the question of
the amount necessary to constitute "harmful quantities" to the
determination of the President.147 Chevron I and several other cases
had held prior to the 1978 amendments that because the Clean Water
Act prohibited only "harmful quantities," the sheen regulation did
not prohibit extremely small discharges which were not, in fact,
harmful.'" These cases, including Chevron I, held that the sheen
regulation created a rebuttable presumption of harm which could be
overcome by an affirmative showing by the responsible party that
no actual injury had occurred. 49
Because the 1978 amendments eliminated the references to
"harmful quantities" of oil and stated that the President was empowered to prohibit discharges that "may be harmful," the Fifth
Circuit concluded that the sheen regulation was no longer a rebuttable presumption of harm."10 In summary, the Fifth Circuit in
Chevron II held that the EPA now has the authority to prohibit
not only discharges that are actually harmful to the environment,
but also discharges which may be harmful to the environment and
that the sheen regulation is a valid exercise of this authority to
regulate discharges that may be harmful."' Thus, when a spill occurs,
the only relevant issue is whether it is in a quantity that the EPA
has determined may be harmful, not whether the spill is actually
harmful. If the spill is in a quantity deemed harmful by the EPA,
which can merely consist of a sheen, civil penalties are appropriate
2
whether or not actual harm resulted.1
B.

Citizen's Suits: Two-Part Test for Proving an Ongoing
Violation

1. Facts and ProceduralHistory of Carr v. Alta Verde
Industries, Inc.'
The plaintiffs, Nick Carr and William H. George, brought a
citizen's suit under section 1365 of the Clean Water Act which
147. Id. at 29.
148. See United States v. Boyd, 491 F.2d 1163, 1167 (9th Cir. 1973); Ward v. Coleman,
423 F. Supp. 1352, 1358 (W.D. Okla. 1976), rev'd, 598 F.2d 1187 (10th Cir. 1979), rev'd,
448 U.S. 242 (1980).
149. 919 F.2d at 30.
150. Id.
151. Id.
152. Id.
153. 931 F.2d 1055 (5th Cir. May 1991).
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provides in pertinent part: "[A]ny citizen may commence a civil
action on his own behalf (1) against any person . . . who is alleged
to be in violation of (A) an effluent standard or limitation ... .
The defendant was Alta Verde Industries (Alta Verde), which was
a cattle feedlot "with between 20,000 and 30,000 head of cattle and
230.9 acres of land.""' The plaintiffs alleged that between April
and July of 1987, and perhaps at other times in 1987, heavy rains
caused wastewater holding ponds operated by Alta Verde to dis1' 5 6
charge waste water "into an unnamed tributary of Rosita Creek.'
The six holding ponds were part of a waste water disposal system
operated by Alta Verde. 5 7 The waste from the feed lot, which was
comprised primarily of cow manure, drained into the six holding
ponds.5 8 At the time that the suit was filed, Alta Verde did not
have a National Pollution Discharge Elimination System (NPDES)
permit for the discharge. 59 The plaintiffs, who filed their suit on
December 14, 1987, alleged that the discharges by Alta Verde earlier
in 1987 violated the Clean Water Act since Alta Verde did not have
an NPDES permit at the time of the discharge. 60
After a bench trial on the merits, the district court dismissed
the plaintiffs' suit for lack of standing.' 6' The district court followed
Gwaltney Smithfield, Ltd. v. Chesapeake Bay Foundation, Inc. 62 in
which the Supreme Court held that "citizens do not have standing
to seek civil penalties for wholly past violations of the Act. "163 The
district court concluded that since no discharges were occurring at
the time the complaint was filed and no discharges had occurred
since the filing of the complaint, no discharges in violation of the
Act were ongoing.'" Moreover, the district court held that Alta
Verde was not required to have an NPDES permit and, therefore,
any future discharges would not be in violation of the Act. 65

154.
155.
156.
157.
158.
159.
160.
161.
162.
163.
164.
165.

Id. at 1057. See 33 U.S.C. § 1365 (1989).
931 F.2d at 1057.
Id. at 1057-58.
Id. at 1057.
Id.
Id. at 1058.
Id.
Id.
484 U.S. 49 (1987).
Carr v. Alta Verde Indus., Inc., 931 F.2d 1055, 1058 (5th Cir. May 1990).
Id.
Id.
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Therefore, since there were no current discharges in violation of the
Act and since no future discharges would violate the Act, the district
court held that the plaintiffs lacked standing under Gwaltney.6 The
plaintiffs appealed the dismissal of the suit for lack of standing.
Thus, the sole issue before the Fifth Circuit was whether the district
court erred in dismissing the plaintiffs' citizen suit for lack of
67
standing.
2.

Decision and Analysis of the Fifth Circuit in Carr

The Fifth Circuit reversed the dismissal of the suit and remanded
the case for further proceedings consistent with its opinion. 68 The
Fifth Circuit observed that the district court made a series of errors.
First, the Fifth Circuit concluded that the district court incorrectly
determined that Alta Verde did need an NPDES permit.' 69 Second,
the Fifth Circuit held that the district court applied the incorrect
standard at the wrong time for determining standing. 70 Third, the
district court, according to the Fifth Circuit, appeared to be confused
about the distinction between the standard for proving mootness
and the appropriate standard for dismissing a suit for lack of
standing.' 7' The Fifth Circuit also displayed some confusion in this
case and, in fact, originally agreed with the district court.172 The
7
court's current opinion was in response to a petition for rehearing.
In reversing the district court, the Fifth Circuit provided future
litigants with a succinct discussion of the standards that a plaintiff
in a citizen's suit under the Clean Water Act must meet at each step
of the litigation. At the time the complaint is filed, a plaintiff must,
following the standards set forth in Gwaltney "make a good-faith
allegation of continuous or intermittent violation." 74 The defendant

166. Id.
167. See id.
168. Id.at 1055.
169. Id.at 1059.
170. Id. at 1063.
171. Id.at 1065.
172. Carr v. Alta Verde Indus., Inc., 924 F.2d 558 (5th Cir. Feb. 1991), withdrawn, 931
F.2d 1055 (1991).
173. 931 F.2d at 1055.
174. Id. at 1061 (quoting Gwaltney of Smithfield Ltd. v. Chesapeake Bay Foundation,
Inc., 484 U.S. 49 (1987)).
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has the burden to prove on a motion for summary judgment that
"the plaintiff's allegations of a continuous or intermittent violation
do not raise a genuine issue of material fact.' '17 Thus, the plaintiff's
standing may be contested by a pre-trial motion filed by the defendant at which the defendant has the burden to show that the
76
plaintiff's allegations do not raise a genuine issue of material fact.
The plaintiff's standing is determined as of the date of the filing of
the complaint and no subsequent event, except mootness, will negate
7
the court's subject matter jurisdiction.'
Once a case proceeds to trial on the merits, the burden resides
with the plaintiff to prove a continuous or intermittent violation as
an essential element of the cause of action. 78 Therefore, after the
bench trial had occurred, if the district court felt that the plaintiffs
did not prove a continuous or intermittent violation, the district
court should have entered judgment for defendants on the merits;
79
not dismissed the suit for lack of standing.
The Fifth Circuit further observed that, once the trial on the
merits had commenced, the district court could have properly analyzed whether any actions of the defendants after the filing of the
complaint mooted the case.180 The Fifth Circuit cited Gwaltney for
the principle that the defendant must provide evidence which is
"absolutely clear that the allegedly wrongful behavior could not
reasonably be expected to recur."' 8' The Fifth Circuit referred to
this burden as a "heavy burden' 8 82 and concluded that Alta Verde
1 83
did not meet its burden.
Finally, the Fifth Circuit set forth the two-part test that a
plaintiff must meet to prevail at a trial on the merits on the essential
element of proving an on-going violation.8 The Fifth Circuit adopted
the two-part test established by the Fourth Circuit on remand in
Gwaltney.185 According to this two-part test, a plaintiff must prove
an on-going violation at trial:
175. 931 F.2d at 1061.
176. Id.
177. Id.
178. Id.
179. Id. at 1063 n.5.
180. See id.at 1065.
181. Id. at 1065 (quoting 484 U.S. 49 (1987)) (emphasis in original).
182. Id.
183. Id. at 1062.
184. Id.
185. Gwaltney Smithfield Ltd. v. Chesapeake Bay Foundation, Inc., 890 F.2d 690 (4th
Cir. 1989).
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(1) [by] proving violations that continue on or after the date the
complaint is filed, or (2) by adducing evidence from which a
reasonable trier of fact could find a continuing likelihood of
recurrence in intermittent or sporadic violations. Intermittent or
sporadic violations do not cease to be on-going until the date
when there is no real likelihood of repetition. s6
The Fifth Circuit concluded that the plaintiffs at the bench trial
had adduced evidence that met both prongs of this test. 8 7 Plaintiffs
met the first prong of the test by demonstrating that Alta Verde
was required to have an NPDES permit and did not have one on
the date the complaint was filed. n8 Moreover, the Fifth Circuit held
that the second part of the test was satisfied in that the plaintiffs
had demonstrated a likelihood that a discharge would occur in the
future.8 9
The decision of the Fifth Circuit in Carr is significant because
of its thorough discussion of the Gwaltney case and its adoption of
the two-part test first established by the Fourth Circuit on remand
in Gwaltney. The two-part test established the burden that a plaintiff
in a citizen's suit under the Clean Water Act must meet in order to
prevail on the issue of an "on-going violation."'' 9 The court described how the burden on this issue shifts and changes in severity.
As a pretrial issue of standing, the burden shifts to the defendant
to meet a summary judgment standard to show that the plaintiff
has not raised a genuine issue of material fact. 191 If the defendant
is claiming that the plaintiff's suit is moot, then, again, the burden
is on the defendant and, at this juncture in the proceedings, the
burden is a very difficult one. 192 To show mootness, the defendant
must demonstrate that it is "absolutely clear that the allegedly
wrongful behavior could not reasonably be expected to recur."'9 93
Finally, at a trial on the merits, the burden resides with the plaintiff
to prove an on-going violation by showing either that the violation
is continuous and on-going, or by presenting evidence that reasonably

186.
187.
188.
189.
190.
191.
192.
193.
181 and

Id. at 693.
Carr v. Alta Verde Indus. Inc., 931 F.2d 1055, 1065 (5th Cir. May 1991).
See id. at 1063.
Id.
Id. at 1062-63.
Id. at 1061.
Id. at 1065.
931 F.2d at 1065 (quoting 484 U.S. 491 (1987)) (emphasis in original); see supra note
accompanying text.
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supports a finding that there is a likelihood that intermittent or
sporadic violations could recur in the future."94

194.

See 931 F.2d at 1062.

